

REPORT OF THE EDITOR OF PUBLICATIONS FOR 1915

The expansion of the activities of The Institute of Radio Engineers during 1915 has been highly gratifying. A detailed comparison of the work done in 1915 with that of 1914 follows:

	1914	1915	Increase
Papers published.....	13	19	6
Pages of <i>Proceedings</i>	331	416	85
Illustrations in <i>Proceedings</i>	102	148	46
Items in Index of <i>Proceedings</i>	164	425	261
Papers of which reprints were made	2	4	2
Pages of reprints.....	33	58	25
Papers of which advance copies were made.....	--	1	1
Pages of advance copy.....	--	32	32
Total pages published, including Year Book, Standardization Report, etc.....	364	580	216
Correspondence of Editor's Office (in letters).....	500	1500	1000

It will be seen that the total publications of the Institute have increased nearly 60 per cent during 1915. As a natural consequence, the business transacted by the Editor's office has very markedly increased.

During 1916, in accordance with a recently passed constitutional amendment, there will be published six issues of the *Proceedings*, instead of four as heretofore.

A difficulty has been experienced in securing copies of papers and discussions of the meetings of some of the Sections of the Institute. Arrangements are being made whereby this difficulty will be overcome.

The Editor feels it desirable to have advance copies of certain of the papers presented before the Institute available for the use of interested members, to the end that a more complete discussion may be secured on such papers. Financial considerations have, up to the present, prevented the adoption of any broad plan in this connection; but every effort will be made to devise and carry out such a plan.

The thanks of the Institute and the Editor are due those who by their kind assistance have made possible the presentation and publication of the 1915 papers.

ALFRED N. GOLDSMITH,
Editor.

CONSTITUTION

ADOPTED AT THE FIRST MEETING OF THE INSTITUTE OF RADIO ENGINEERS, MAY 13, 1912, AMENDED NOVEMBER 2, 1914, AND DECEMBER 5, 1915.

ARTICLE I

NAME AND OBJECT

SEC. 1. The name of this organization shall be The Institute of Radio Engineers.

SEC. 2. Its object shall be the advancement of the theory and practice of radio engineering and of the allied arts and sciences and the maintenance of a high professional standing among its members. Among the means to this end shall be the holding of meetings for the reading and discussion of professional papers and the publication of such papers, discussions and communications as may seem expedient.

ARTICLE II

MEMBERSHIP

SEC. 1. The membership of the Institute shall consist of:

a. Honorary Members, who shall be entitled to all the rights and privileges of the Institute except the right to nominate, vote and hold office.

b. Fellows, who shall be entitled to all the rights and privileges of the Institute.

c. Members, who shall be entitled to all the rights and privileges of the Institute except the right to hold the office of President and Vice-President.

d. Associates, who shall be entitled to all the rights and privileges of the Institute except the right to hold the office of President, Vice-President and Editor.

e. Juniors, who shall be entitled to attend all meetings and to receive copies of all Institute publications.

SEC. 2. Honorary Members may be chosen from among those who have rendered acknowledged eminent service to radio science, or the radio arts.

SEC. 3. A Fellow shall not be less than thirty years of age and shall be either:

a. A radio engineer by profession. As such he shall be qualified to design and to take responsible charge of important radio work; he shall have been in the active practice of his profession for at least seven years, and shall have had responsible charge of important radio work for at least three years.

When the applicant holds in a principal national society of an allied branch of engineering, membership of a grade for which the qualifications indicate a standing equal to that required for the grade of Fellow herein, such membership shall be considered equivalent to three of the required seven years of active practice of the radio profession.

b. A professor of physical science or of electrical engineering. As such he shall have attained special distinction as an expounder of the principles of radio science and of radio engineering; he shall have had at least seven years' experience as a teacher of physical or electrical subjects and shall have had responsible charge for three years, in a radio course of a principal school of science or engineering. Any years of experience as defined in paragraph "a" that the applicant may have had as a radio engineer shall be considered the equivalent of the same number of years of experience as a "teacher of radio subjects."

c. A person who has done notable original work in radio science of a character to give him a recognized standing at least equivalent to that required for the Fellows under paragraphs "a" and "b."

d. A person regularly engaged in radio work for at least seven years, who, by inventions or by special proficiency in contributions to the radio science or the radio arts or radio literature, has attained a standing at least equivalent to that required for Fellows under paragraphs "a" and "b."

SEC. 4. A Member shall be not less than twenty-five years of age and shall be either:

a. A radio engineer by profession. As such, under general direction, he shall have designed and taken responsibility for important radio engineering work; he shall have been in the active practice of his profession for at least four years.

When the applicant holds in a principal national society of

an allied branch of engineering, membership of a grade for which the qualifications indicate a standing equal to that required for the grade of Member herein, such membership shall be considered equivalent to two years of the requisite four years of active practice of the radio profession.

b. A teacher of physical science or of electrical engineering. He shall have had at least four years' experience as a teacher of radio subjects in a school of recognized standing. Any years of experience the applicant may have had as a radio engineer shall be considered the equivalent of the same number of years of experience as a "teacher of radio science or of radio engineering."

c. A person regularly employed in radio or closely allied work for at least four years, who, by invention or by proficiency in radio science, the radio arts, or radio literature, or as an executive of any radio enterprise of large scope, has attained a standing equivalent to that required for Members under paragraphs "a" and "b." In the case of such an executive the applicant must be qualified to take responsible charge of the broader features of radio engineering involved in the work under his direction.

d. A commissioned officer of the Army or Navy of the United States government or of any foreign government, who has been regularly engaged in radio work for a period of three years, who shall have had responsible charge of important government radio work for at least one year and who shall have attained the rank of Lieutenant in the Navy or Captain in the Army.

SEC. 5. An Associate shall be not less than twenty-one years of age and shall be:

a. A radio engineer by profession.

b. A teacher of radio subjects.

c. A person who is interested in and connected with the study or application of radio science or the radio arts.

SEC. 6. A Junior shall be not less than sixteen years of age nor over twenty-one years of age, and shall be a person who is interested in the study or application of radio science or the radio arts.

On attaining the age of twenty-one years, Juniors shall be transferred to the grade of Associate.

SEC. 7. In all cases, graduation from the radio course or electrical course of a school of science or of engineering of recognized standing shall be considered the equivalent of one year's radio experience.

SEC. 8. Any person, who is a Member at the time this group of amendments is adopted, shall not be barred from eligibility to the grade of Fellow because of the age limitation, provided he shall otherwise be eligible as herein defined.

Any person who is an Associate at the time this group of amendments is adopted, shall not be barred from eligibility to the grade of Member because of the age limitations, provided he shall otherwise be eligible as herein defined.

ARTICLE III

ADMISSIONS AND EXPULSIONS

SEC. 1. Honorary Member shall be recommended by at least ten members to the Board of Direction, and upon unanimous vote of that Board shall be proposed to the membership for election. A person elected an Honorary Member shall be promptly notified thereof by letter. The election shall be cancelled if an acceptance is not received within six months after the mailing of notice.

SEC. 2. Applications may be made for admission or transfer to any grade of membership. Applicants shall give references to members of the Institute as follows:

For the grade of Fellow, to five Fellows.

For the grade of Member, to five Fellows or Members.

For the grade of Associate, to five Fellows, Members or Associates.

For the grade of Junior, to five Fellows, Members, or Associates.

Each application for admission or for transfer from one grade to another shall embody a concise statement with dates, of the candidate's training and experience and shall be in such form and such detail as may be prescribed by the Board of Direction. It shall be signed by the applicant and shall contain a promise to conform to the requirements of that grade of membership to which he may be elected.

Each of the members referred to by the applicant shall be requested by the Secretary to address a letter to the Board of Direction, stating the extent of the writer's personal knowledge of the applicant and his training and experience. If at least a majority of the corporate members named as references do not furnish the requisite endorsement, the Secretary shall call upon the applicant for additional names, and not until written com-

munications have been received from at least three members shall the application be considered by the Board of Direction.

The requirements of the foregoing paragraph may be waived in whole or in part where the applicant is well known, either personally or by reputation, to the Board of Direction, or where the application is for Junior or Associate grade.

An applicant who is so situated as not to be personally known to the required number of members of any grade may give the names, occupations and addresses of responsible non-members to complete the required number of references.

SEC. 3. A list comprising the names, ages, addresses and occupations of all new applicants for admission or transfer shall be sent by the Secretary to each member of the Board of Direction.

The Board of Direction may consider applications for admission to Junior grade, or admission or transfer to Associate grade at any regular meeting held at least one week after the list containing the applicants' names has been sent to each member of the Board of Direction.

The Board of Direction may consider applications for admission or transfer to the grade of Member at any regular meeting held at least two weeks after the list containing the applicants' names has been sent to each member of the Board of Direction.

The Board of Direction may consider applications for admission or transfer to the grade of Fellow at any regular meeting held at least four weeks after the list containing the applicants' names has been sent to each member of the Board of Direction.

A recorded affirmative vote, oral or written, of at least two-thirds of the Board members voting at any regular meeting, shall elect or transfer an applicant for any grade. A vote on any application shall stand, unless withdrawn by the Board member voting, until the application is finally acted upon.

SEC. 4. A rejected applicant may renew his application for membership at any time after the expiration of one year from the date of the ballot rejecting his previous application.

SEC. 5. All elected candidates shall be duly notified and shall subscribe to the Constitution and Rules of the Institute. Forms for these purposes shall be prescribed by the Board of Direction. If these provisions are not complied with within six months from the notification of election, such election shall be considered void, unless for special reason the time shall be

extended by the Board of Direction. Membership of any person shall date from the date of his election.

SEC. 6. Fellows, Members, Associates, or Juniors, if found delinquent in their duties may be tried by the Board of Direction, and upon decision of the Board their names shall be submitted to the Institute to determine their suspension or expulsion. A three-quarters vote of the Institute shall be necessary to ratify such action of the Board.

SEC. 7. A member may resign his membership by a written communication to the Secretary, who shall present the same to the Board of Direction; when, if all his dues have been paid his resignation shall be accepted.

ARTICLE IV

DUES

SEC. 1. The entrance fee, payable on admission to the Institute, shall be as follows:

- Admission to the grade of Fellow, ten (10) dollars
- " " " " " Member, five (5) dollars
- " " " " " Associate, three (3) dollars
- " " " " " Junior, one (1) dollar

The transfer fee from one grade of membership to another shall be the difference between the corresponding admission fees.

The entrance fees shall be waived until January 1, 1916.

SEC. 2. The annual dues payable by members, whether resident or non-resident, shall be as follows:

- a. By Fellows, ten (10) dollars
- By Members, seven dollars and fifty cents (\$7.50)
- By Associates, four (4) dollars
- By Juniors, three dollars and fifty cents (\$3.50)
- b. Honorary Members shall be exempt from all payments.

SEC. 3. The annual dues shall be payable on the first day of January, in advance for the ensuing year. It shall be the duty of the Secretary to notify each member of the amount due at the time of giving notice of the annual meeting.

SEC. 4. Persons elected after July 1st of any year shall pay only one-half of the dues for that year.

SEC. 5. Any person whose dues are more than three months

in arrears shall be notified by the Secretary. Should his dues not be paid when they become six months in arrears, he shall lose the right to vote or to receive the publications of the Institute. Should his dues become nine months in arrears, he shall be again notified in form prescribed by the Board of Direction, and if such dues become one year in arrears he shall forfeit his connection with the Institute. The Board of Direction, may, however, for cause deemed by it sufficient, extend the time for payment and for the application of these penalties.

SEC. 6. The Board of Direction may, for sufficient cause, temporarily excuse from payment of annual dues any member; and the Board may remit the whole or part of dues in arrears, or accept in lieu thereof desirable additions to the library or collections.

SEC. 7. Every person admitted to the Institute shall be considered as belonging thereto and liable for the payment of all dues until he shall have resigned, been expelled, or have been relieved therefrom by the Board of Direction.

ARTICLE V

OFFICERS

SEC. 1. The governing body of the Institute shall be a President, Vice-President, a Secretary and a Treasurer and Editor of Publications, six elected Managers, and three appointed Managers, who shall together constitute the Board of Direction.

SEC. 2. The terms of all officers, except the six elected Managers, shall be one year, and shall begin at the close of the annual meeting at which election is made. The terms of all officers shall continue until successors are duly elected. The President and the Vice-President shall not be eligible for immediate renomination to the same office.

SEC. 3. Two Managers shall be elected each year and serve for three years.

For the year 1915 the six elected Managers shall be voted upon as follows: The two candidates receiving the highest number of votes shall serve for three years; the two candidates receiving the next highest number of votes shall serve for two years; the two candidates receiving the next highest number of votes shall serve for one year.

SEC. 4. The three appointed Managers shall be chosen by the Board of Direction, to serve for terms of one year. These appointed Managers shall have no vote in the election of their successors.

ARTICLE VI

MANAGEMENT

SEC. 1. The President shall have general supervision of the affairs of the Institute. He shall preside at meetings of the Institute and of the Board of Direction at which he may be present, and shall be an ex-officio member of all committees. He shall deliver an address at the annual meeting.

SEC. 2. The Board of Direction shall manage the affairs of the Institute in conformity to the laws under which the Institute is organized and the provisions of the Constitution. It shall direct the investment and care of the funds of the Institute; make appropriations for specific purposes; act upon applications for membership as heretofore provided; take measures to advance the interests of the Institute; appoint all its employees and generally direct its business. The Board of Direction shall make an annual report at the annual meeting, transmitting the report of the Treasurer and of other officers and of committees. Five members of the Board of Direction shall constitute a quorum.

SEC. 3. The Treasurer shall receive all moneys and deposit same in the name of the Institute. He shall invest all funds not needed for current disbursements, as shall be ordered by the Board of Direction. He shall pay all bills, when certified and audited, as provided by this Constitution and by rules to be prescribed by the Board of Direction. He shall make an annual report and such other reports as may be prescribed by the Board of Direction.

The Board of Direction shall secure a satisfactory surety for the faithful performance of his duties by the Treasurer, and shall renew the same during the month of January of each year.

SEC. 4. The Secretary will be expected to attend all meetings of the Institute and of the Board of Direction; prepare the business therefor, and duly record the proceedings thereof. He shall see that all moneys due the Institute are carefully collected, and without loss transferred to the custody of the Treasurer. He shall carefully scrutinize all expenditures and use his best endeavor to secure economy in the administration of the

Institute. He shall personally certify the accuracy of all bills or vouchers on which money is to be paid, and shall countersign the checks drawn by the Treasurer against the funds of the Institute, when such drafts are known to him to be proper and duly authorized by the Finance Committee. He shall have charge of the books of account of the Institute, and shall furnish when required by the Board of Direction a statement of receipts and expenses under their several headings, and also a statement of monthly balances. He shall present annually, to the Board of Direction, a balance sheet of his books as of the 31st of December, and shall furnish from time to time such other statements as may be required of him. He shall conduct the correspondence of the Institute and keep full records of the same. He shall perform all other duties which may from time to time be assigned to him by the Board of Direction.

SEC. 5. The Board of Direction may also, if they deem it necessary, appoint an Assistant Secretary, who shall aid the Secretary and be under his immediate direction in all matters.

SEC. 6. The President, as soon as expedient after the annual meeting, shall appoint from the membership, with the advice and consent of the Board of Direction, the following standing committees:

Committee on Papers
Committee on Standardization
Committee on Publicity

Members appointed shall serve until their successors are appointed or the committees are dissolved.

ARTICLE VII

NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF OFFICERS

SEC. 1. Two months before the annual meeting, nominations for the offices of President, Vice-President, Secretary and Treasurer and two Managers, shall be called for from the membership qualified by this Constitution. Before nominees' names are submitted to the membership for final vote each nominee shall be consulted and if he so requests, his name shall be withdrawn and the next ranking name substituted.

For the year 1915, nominations for six Managers shall be called for.

One month before the annual meeting, the Board of Direction shall submit to the entire membership excepting Honorary

Members and Juniors, a list of all nominees, which list shall consist of the pairs of names receiving the largest number of nominations for each office. In the event of ties in nomination the Board of Direction shall select the name of the man in its opinion best fitted for that office. The membership shall then submit written ballots in plain sealed envelopes enclosed within mailing envelopes marked "Ballot" and bearing the members' signature, voting for officers from the list of nominees. A majority vote received up to the time of the closing of the poll (twenty-four hours before the opening of the annual meeting) shall elect, and no votes by proxy shall be counted. The method of balloting herein described shall be used for nominating as well as for voting, except the outer envelope shall be marked "Nomination" in the former case. In nominating, as in voting, no proxies or ballots within unsigned outer envelopes shall be opened for counting. Ballots, whether for nomination or voting, shall be checked, opened and counted by a quorum of the Board of Direction, at a regular meeting of the Board. At the time of call for nominations, the Board of Direction shall submit to the qualified voters a list of suggested nominations containing at least two names for each office.

Sec. 2. The Editor of Publications shall be elected by vote of the Board of Direction as soon as practicable after May first.

ARTICLE VIII

MEETINGS

Sec. 1. There shall be an Annual Meeting, at which the annual reports for the year ending December thirty-first previous shall be presented, and the ballot for officers, reported. At this meeting, fifteen (15) members shall constitute a quorum.

Sec. 2. Business meetings shall be held as prescribed by the by-laws.

Sec. 3. In addition to the Annual Meeting, meetings for the reading and discussion of papers shall be held as ordered by the Board of Direction.

Sec. 4. Special meetings may be called by the Board of Direction, and shall be so called upon the request of ten members, which request shall state the purpose of such meeting. The call for such meeting shall be issued ten days in advance, and shall state the purpose thereof, and no other business shall

be taken up at such meeting. At these meetings, ten members shall constitute a quorum.

Sec. 5. The Institute may adopt, from time to time, rules for the order of business at its meetings.

Sec. 6. Meetings of the Board of Direction shall be held at the time of the annual meeting and at such other times as the Board may determine, but only on notice to all members of the Board by the Secretary. Notices of time and place of meeting are to be mailed in New York at least two days in advance.

ARTICLE IX

AMENDMENTS

Sec. 1. Proposed amendments to this Constitution must be reduced to writing and signed by not less than twenty Fellows, Members or Associates, and be submitted to the entire membership, except Honorary Members and Juniors, who shall vote by letter ballot. The amendment shall be adopted if seventy-five per cent of the votes received are in favor of such action, the polls having been open for at least one month after mailing to the qualified membership, notices of the proposed amendments. Votes upon the adoption of proposed amendments shall be checked, opened and counted by a quorum of the Board of Direction at a regular meeting of the Board.